NO. 47488-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TERRENCE SMITH
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Jack Nevin, Frank Cuthbertson, and Kitty Ann van
Doornink, Judges

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LISE ELLNER
Attorney for Appellant

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090
WSB #20955

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Smith assigns error to the trial court's denial of his motion to withdraw his plea.
2. Smith was denied effective assistance of counsel at the plea hearing when counsel advised him to write a statement admitting guilt after the court stated that the facts were insufficient to identify.
3. Smith was denied effective assistance when his attorney refused to provide him the opportunity to view the surveillance video prior to pleading guilty.
4. Smith was denied effective assistance when his attorney refused to provide any discovery prior to Smith pleading guilty.
5. Smith was denied effective assistance when his attorney advised him to plead guilty when the state could not prove identity.
6. Smith did not make a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision to plead guilty.
7. The trial court abused its discretion by denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea.

Issues Related to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying the motion to withdraw the plea that was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent?
2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying the motion

to withdraw the plea where Smith was not provided effective assistance of counsel?

3. Was Smith denied effective assistance of counsel at the plea hearing when counsel advised him to write a statement admitting guilt after the court stated that there were insufficient facts to establish?
4. Was Smith denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney refused to provide him the opportunity to view the surveillance video prior to pleading guilty?
5. Was Smith denied effective assistance when his attorney refused to provide any discovery prior to Smith pleading guilty?
6. Was Smith denied effective assistance when his attorney advised him to plead guilty without advising him that the state could not prove identity?
7. Was Smith's plea knowing, voluntary and intelligent?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Before his plea hearing, Terrence Smith requested to review discovery, but his attorney and investigator did not follow through. 3RP 24-26. 1 Prior to pleading guilty to robbery in the first degree, Smith was never provided the opportunity to review the state's case against him. CP 17-26; 3RP 24-25. During the plea hearing, the court engaged Smith in an

1 RP refers to the November 18, 2014 hearing; 1RP refers to the December 11, 2014 hearing; 2RP refers to the January 23, 2015 hearing; 3RP refers to the March 27, 2015.

extensive colloquy regarding the rights he was waiving. RP 4-7. Counsel informed the court that she “discussed [with Smith] what the facts would be that would cause the court to accept the plea of guilty to the crime of robbery in the first degree. “. RP 4, 13. The court did not discuss the factual basis for the plea but did refuse to find guilt based on the statement of probable cause, which the court deemed insufficient. RP 8-11.

After the court refused to accept the plea, counsel offered to, “talk to Mr. Smith and probably have the statement of guilt –“. RP 11. The court took a brief recess and counsel returned with a handwritten statement by Smith noting what “he believes makes him guilty of the charge”. RP 12. The Court asked Smith if wrote the statement to which Smith indicated “yes”. RP 12-13. The court accepted the plea and did not discuss the state’s case against Smith. RP 12-13.

On a different date, in front of a different judge, Smith moved to withdraw his plea and requested new counsel for that motion. 1RP 2-4. Smith stated that his attorney did not provide an honest assessment of the state’s case and that he felt coerced into pleading guilty without sufficient information. 1RP 4.

I feel that my counselor here has not been truthful with me with information involved in the case, and I feel that the decision I made that day was coerced, and I feel that I was kind of cornered into making that decision.

RP 4. The court denied the motion. 1RP 5. During the next hearing, in front of Judge Cuthbertson, Smith again requested to withdraw his plea and obtain new counsel. 2RP 16. Judge Cuthbertson granted new counsel

for Smith to argue a motion to withdraw his plea in front of judge Nevin, the judge who accepted the plea. 2RP 19-20.

New counsel, Robert Quillian, did not have time to submit an affidavit in support of the motion to withdraw. 3RP 22. Instead, Quillian placed Smith on the witness stand and took testimony from Smith. 3RP 23. Smith testified that before his plea hearing, he had repeatedly requested to review discovery, but was never provided the opportunity. 3RP 24-25.

After Smith filed the motion to withdraw, an investigator visited Smith and showed him the surveillance video of the bank robbery and photos of the scene of the crash. 2RP 24. After viewing the video and other discovery, Smith realized that the state could not establish identity. Smith requested to withdraw his plea, and testified that he would not have pleaded guilty if he had been able to first review the state's evidence against him. 3RP 24-26.

Mr. Quillian informed the court that the notes on former counsel's trial file confirmed that counsel and the investigator had not provided Smith with any discovery or other information about the state's case. 3RP 27. Mr. Hill, the prosecuting attorney on this case informed the court that without DNA, "you were never going to know for sure which brother it was." 3RP 28. The robbery involved Smith and his identical twin brother. *Id.* Hill argued to the court that notwithstanding the issue with identity he believed he could establish identity based on clothing. *Id.*

During the plea hearing Judge Nevin disagreed with the prosecutor's assessment that he could establish identity based on clothing, because the eyewitnesses gave disparate statements regarding clothing, and the perpetrators had masks covering their faces. RP 8-11. The prosecutor offered that "it's a very young case. The fact we got this to a guilty plea this quickly doesn't happen very often for a case of this nature. He's moving through the system very fast." RP 14. Without any discussion on the record and without any written findings or conclusions, the court denied the motion to withdraw. 3RP 32-33.

The weight of your question, of course, is the question of whether or not there is a basis, based upon this information, to withdraw the guilty plea. And I'm not satisfied that there is. I'm satisfied that the evidence in this case, circumstantial and direct, is substantial insofar as it relates to this issue of identity. Granted, my exposure to this case is fairly limited. I was in the criminal division presiding, and, accordingly, I took a plea. And I don't recall, specifically, how counsel remedied the plea, but I know they remedied it because I said I needed to know the specifics. And it may be that I had an inquiry of Mr. Smith, I don't remember, I don't. I do remember either you or your brother was a football player.....

And so anyway, in any event, we have to look at certain criteria and I'm not satisfied there's a basis to allow the withdrawal of the guilty plea. Accordingly, I'm denying that as well as the other motions posed by Mr. Smith.

3RP 32-33.

During the sentencing hearing, the court relied on the same statement of probable cause to find that the state could not establish

identity. RP 8

Is the Declaration of Probable Cause provided to me here? I'm going to review, pursuant to the plea of guilty and the request of the accused, I'll review the Declaration of Probable Cause. Short pause in proceeding)

THE COURT: I'm having trouble finding how this supports a plea of guilty to Robbery in the First

Degree. I understand all the circumstantial evidence, I get the car, I get the weapon, I get the cash. Is it your position that this is enough to satisfy the providency [sic] of a plea? **There is nothing here to say he's the guy that was either behind the wheel or was the guy that had the gun.**

(Emphasis added) RP 8.

Maybe I'm just missing something. You, obviously, have lived with this longer than I have, but in the second paragraph it says that the witness named Crandall saw the person, and he had on -- well, first of all, as reported from the people at the bank he had a bandana over his face, a red and black flannel shirt. And then the person in the next door in the strip mall said that he ran by the front of the business wearing a button up shirt, jeans, and had a bandana on his head. So that's talking about the same person, right?

MR. HILL: Yes, it is.

THE COURT: A button up shirt, jeans, and a bandana --

MR. HILL: It is a pair of gray sweatpants in actuality. Now, some of the pictures, as you look at it, the gray pants actually look a little bit to be tinged with a blue.

THE COURT: The point here is it says that he had jeans, a bandana on his head, and then says here, though, later on, that he was wearing a white tank top and baggy gray sweatpants.

MR. HILL: Yes. So what he

MR. HILL: Yes. So what he's really wearing is a pair of baggy gray sweatpants --

THE COURT: I get that. But you're asking me to rely exclusively on this to the exclusion of

anything else. What they said this gentlemen was wearing and what they said the shooter was wearing are two different things as described.

MR. HILL: The witness outside of the bank didn't see him for as long and her description of clothing is not accurate. The witness inside the bank who was brought to the scene –

THE COURT: I understand that totally. But, again, you're asking me to rely on this to support a guilty plea. I don't think I can do that.

(Emphasis added) RP 8-11. The court's order denying the motion to withdraw the plea did not contain any written findings or conclusions and only contained a single word, "Denied". CP 76.

Following sentencing, Smith filed a timely notice of appeal.

C. ARGUMENTS

1. SMITH'S PLEA WAS NOT KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT.

The trial court abused its discretion by denying the motion to withdraw Smith's guilty plea because it was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent and Smith was denied effective assistance of counsel at his plea hearing. Prior to pleading, counsel failed to adequately consult with Smith and explain that the state could not prove identity. Under CrR 4.2(f) these errors constitute *per se* manifest injustice. CrR 4.2(f).

This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea for abuse of discretion. *State v. Lamb*, 175 Wn.2d 121, 127, 285 P.3d 27 (2012). An abuse of discretion occurs if a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds or reasons. *Id.* A manifestly unreasonable decision is one that is outside the

range of acceptable choices, given the facts and applicable legal standard. Id. A trial court's decision is based on untenable reasons if it uses an incorrect standard or if the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. Id. The trial court must permit a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea to correct a manifest injustice. CrR 4.2(f). A manifest injustice is one that is obvious, directly observable, overt, and not obscure. Id.

CrR. 4.2, provides four *per se* nonexclusive instances where a manifest injustice exists: where (1) the defendant did not ratify the plea, (2) the plea was not voluntary, (3) the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel, or (4) the plea agreement was not kept. *State v. Wakefield*, 130 Wn.2d 464, 472, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). These instances are considered "demanding" *State v. Nguyen*, 179 Wn.App. 271, 283, 319 P.3d 53 (2014) (quoting, *State v. Taylor*, 83 Wn.2d 594, 596, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)).

Smith was charged with robbery in the first degree. CP 14. Robbery in the first degree requires the state to prove the identity of the perpetrator. *State v. Hill*, 83 Wn.2d 558, 560, 520 P.2d 618 (1974). During the plea hearing, the trial court informed counsel that the state could not establish identity based on the statement of probable cause which contained both the state's eyewitness testimony and photographs of the getaway car after it crashed. Supp. CP (Statement of probable cause ____): RP 8-11.

Without explanation, after the motion to withdraw the plea, based on the same evidence, the same judge ruled that even though he did not

remember taking the plea, since he did take the plea there must have been sufficient evidence to support the plea. 3RP 32-33. This was an abuse of discretion because relying on a past decision based on facts the judge could not remember is an untenable basis for a decision. a failure to remember. This is outside the range of acceptable choices. *Lamb*, 175 Wn.2d at 127.

(ii) Plea Involuntary.

Here, Smith was denied effective assistance of counsel and his plea was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent because he was unaware that the state could not prove its case against him until after the plea hearing when he was finally provided the opportunity to view the surveillance video from the bank and photographs from the scene of the car crash. 3RP 24-25. The prosecutor tried to convince the court that it could prove its case based on eyewitness testimony but after reviewing that testimony, the trial court disagreed. RP 8-12.

To permit a defendant the opportunity to make a meaningful decision about a plea, at minimum counsel must reasonably evaluate the State's evidence and the likelihood of the defendant's conviction at a trial and communicate counsel's findings with his or her client. *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 111-12, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). In other words, the defendant must know and understand the state's case against him. *State v. Zhao*, 157 Wn.2d 188, 202-03, 137 P.3d 835 (2006) (plea knowing, voluntary and intelligent, because the defendant knew that the state's

evidence did not support the amended charges and chose to plead to the amended charge).

Here, by contrast to *Zhao*, trial counsel informed the court that she “discussed what the facts would be that would cause the court to accept the plea. We’ d ask the court to look at the Declaration of Probable Cause instead of Mr. Smith making a statement.” RP 4. This indicates that trial counsel mis-advised Smith that the facts were sufficient to support the state’s case. The trial court disagreed. RP 4-13.

In the context of the trial court accepting an *Alford* plea, the State Supreme Court provided that a defendant can make an intelligent decision to plead guilty if “the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt”. *In re Matter of Montoya*, 109 Wn.2d 270, 280-81, 744 P.2d 340 (1987) (*Alford* plea is valid if defendant is aware that state had a strong case against him); *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 37, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

For example, in *Matter of Montoya*, 109 Wn.2d 270, 281, 744 P.2d 340 (1987), the court held that if a defendant “intelligently concludes that his interests require entry of a guilty plea and the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt”, such a plea is valid. *Id* (citing, *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. at 31, 37.

The corollary, present in this case, is that Smith could not make a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision to plead guilty where the record did not establish guilt, and where Smith was not provided the state’s discovery, which confirmed the weakness of the state’s case.

Montoya, 109 Wn.2d at 280-81.

When the trial court informed counsel that he would not accept the plea, he did not engage Smith in any sort of discussion to determine if Smith understood that the state did not have a case against him. Rather the trial court addressed the prosecutor, who unsuccessfully attempted to persuade the court that it had facts sufficient to make its case against Smith. RP 8-11. Counsel for Smith chimed in that she would “talk to Mr. Smith and probably have the statement of guilt –”. RP 11.

The cumulative information in front of Smith at the time of the plea was insufficient for him to make a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision to plead guilty. The trial court’s refusal to accept the plea did not establish that Smith made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision to plead guilty. It is well established that “[t]rial judges are to refrain from offering defendants any advice, direct or implied, about the wisdom of pleading guilty.” *State v. Watson*, 159 Wn. 162,165 149 P.3d 360 (2006) (trial court advised Watson to “take [the State’s plea] offer.”)).

Here the trial court, seemingly understood this prohibition, when he told counsel, not Smith, that after declining to accept the plea based on the statement of probable cause, he was not trying to be “obtrusive” but he was concerned with appellate review. RP 11.

While there was discussion between counsel and the court about the lack of a factual basis for the plea, there is no evidence that Smith was advised or understood that the state did not have a case against him. RP 12-13. Rather counsel explained that the court would not accept the plea

based on the statement of probable cause unless Smith indicated his guilt, which is different from explaining that the state does not have a case. RP 12.

According counsel informed the court that Smith wrote a statement “that he believes makes him guilty of the charge”. This does not indicate that Smith made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision to plead guilty. RP 12. Smith’s plea was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent, in violation of CrR 4.2, because counsel never advised him that the state could not prove its case. RP 12-13. Accordingly, Smith should be permitted to withdraw his plea.

2. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONSULT WITH SMITH PRIOR TO THE PLEA HEARING ABOUT THE WEAKNESSES IN THE STATE’S CASE.

Smith received ineffective assistance of counsel before the plea hearing because trial counsel failed to inform him that the state could not prove identity. Counsel also failed to adequately consult with Smith and did not provide Smith the opportunity to review the state’s evidence against him. RP 11-12; 3RP 24-26. Smith made repeated requests to see the surveillance video and Smith testified that if had been provided with discovery before the plea hearing, he would not have pleaded guilty. 1RP 2-5; 3RP 24-26.

The standard of review for a challenge to the effective assistance of counsel is de novo. *A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d at 109. A defendant has an absolute right to effective assistance of counsel in criminal proceedings.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684–86, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Yung-Cheng Tsai*, 183 Wn.2d 91, 99, 351 P.3d 138 (2015); *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011); Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Washington article I, section 22.

While counsel is presumed effective, this presumption is overcome where the defendant establishes that (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient; falling below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d 331, 352, 259 P.3d 209 (2011); *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). More than the mere presence of an attorney is required. *State v. Hawkins*, 157 Wn.App. 739, 747, 238 P.3d 1226 (2010), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011).

At a minimum effective representation “entails certain duties” such as “the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution.” *Yung-Cheng*, 183 Wn.2d at 100, (*quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688).

A deficient performance claim can be based on a strategy or tactic when the defendant rebuts the presumption of reasonable performance by demonstrating that “there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance.” *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 33; *citing*, *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); *State v. Aho*, 137

Wn.2d 736, 745–46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999).

Trial strategies and tactics are thus **not** immune from attack on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel. “The relevant question is not whether counsel’s choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable.” *Roe v. Flores–Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000) (finding that the failure to consult with a client about the possibility of appeal is unreasonable). The *Strickland* test applies to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in the plea process. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985).

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