COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

TERRENCE SMITH, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jack Nevin, Judge

No. 14-1-03102-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE VALIDITY OF HIS KNOWING, INTELLIGENT, AND VOLUNTARY PLEA SHOULD BE REJECTED BECAUSE IT DEPENDS ON A BASELESS CLAIM REFUTED BY THE RECORD.

The enforcement of valid plea agreements is of profound public importance. *State v. Codiga*, 162 Wn.2d 912, 922, 175 P.3d 1082 (2008). A guilty plea is valid when the totality of the circumstances show it was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *State v. Branch*, 129 Wn.2d 635, 642, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996); *Wood v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 501, 503, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976). Courts will only permit a plea to be withdrawn to correct manifest injustice. *Codiga*, 162 Wn.2d at 922 (citing CrR 4.2(f)). To be "manifest" injustice must be obvious, directly observable, overt not obscure. *State v. Pugh*, 153 Wn. App. 569, 577, 222 P.3d 821 (2009).

a. The plea was knowingly made.

A plea is knowingly made when entered by a defendant aware of its direct consequences. *Codiga*, 162 Wn.2d at 923-24. Direct consequences have a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on punishment. Among them are the maximum sentence or a term of community custody. *State v. Knotek*, 136 Wn. App. 412, 423, 149 P.3d 676, 681 (2006). They do not include collateral consequences consisting of ancillary results peculiar to the defendant. *State v. Cameron*, 30 Wn. App. 229, 233, 633 P.2d 901, 904 (1981). Use of the word "knowingly" makes explicit advisement of the direct consequences a requirement of a valid plea. *Id.*; *see*

also State v. Cashaw, 4 Wn. App. 243, 248-49, 480 P.2d 528 (1971). The requirement can be satisfied by plea documents. *Id*.

Defendant alleges the plea was not knowingly made, but fails to identify a misunderstanding of its direct consequences. The claim-defeating omission is understandable, for those consequences were explicit in the agreement he signed after counsel advised him of its terms. *E.g.* CP 3-4, 18; RCW 9A.20.021(a). They were reiterated during the plea colloquy. RP (11/18/14) 7-8. Defendant was a twenty nine year old man with fourteen years of education at the time, so he cannot attribute the plea to confusion. *Id.* at 12; CP17. By nonetheless claiming the plea was unknowingly made, he either betrays a misunderstanding of the standard governing the claim or a lack of regard for it, either way, the claim should fail.

b. The plea was intelligently made.

An intelligent plea reflects rational choice among available options, making defendant's claim of an unintelligently made plea indefensible. *State v. Stowe*, 71 Wn. App. 182, 187, 858 P.2d 267, 269 (1993); *see State v. Cashaw*, 4 Wn. App. 243, 248-49, 480 P.2d 528 (1971). He was charged with two counts of firearm enhanced first degree robbery, one count of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm and obstruction. CP 87-89. Conviction would have increased his offender score to 9+. *See* CP 64; RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). The enhancements would have added 120 months consecutive-flat time to the base sentence, resulting in a prison term of approximately twenty to twenty four years. RCW 9.94A.535(3).

Review of the available record reveals the likelihood of conviction was high. There is no evidence defendant was anything less than an equally culpable accomplice to the robberies; meanwhile, he was clearly identified as the principal by an eyewitness, physical evidence, his position in the getaway car and the circumstances of his arrest. See CP 85-86; RCW 9A.08.020; 9.94A.533(3). He was similarly prone to conviction on the UPOF count regardless of which part he played, for the firearm used by the principal in the bank, or another one, was recovered from the getaway car where it was constructively possessed by both brothers. See CP 85-86; State v. Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 524, 13 P.3d 234, 239 (2000).

Defendant's plea to one count of first degree robbery reduced his exposure to 144 months with the benefit of a 120 month recommendation. Removal of the firearm enhancements made the entire sentence eligible for "good-time" reduction. The net result was less prison time than defendant would have served on the originally charged firearm enhancements before he served one day of the remaining ten to fourteen years. From a defense perspective, the plea was exceedingly rational. *See* Richard H. McAdams, *Beyond the Prisoners' Dilemma: Coordination, Game Theory, and Law*, 82 S. Cal. L. Rev. 209, 216 (2009). There is no credibility to defendant's claim to the contrary.

c. The plea was voluntarily made.

Guilty pleas are voluntary when entered by uncoerced defendants that understand the constitutional protection waived, the charged offense's elements and how their conduct satisfied those elements. *Hews v. Evans*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 87, 660 P.2d 263, 267 (1983); *State v. Williams*, 117 Wn. App. 390, 398, 71 P.3d 686, 690 (2003). A defendant's signed or otherwise acknowledged plea statement is *prima facie* verification of voluntariness. *State v. Perez*, 33 Wn. App 258, 261-2, 654 P.2d 708 (1982); *In re Keene*, 95 Wn.2d 203, 206-7, 622 P.2d 360 (1980); *Cf. Branch* at 129 Wn.2d at 642. The presumption is nearly "irrefutable" if a defendant affirms a plea's voluntariness during a colloquy with the court. *Perez*, 33 Wn. App at 262.

Defendant rightly abandoned an earlier claim of coercion. The signed-guilty plea avers the absence of threats or extraneous promises. CP 25; RP (11/18/14) 1-13. Each right waived was explained to him verbally and in writing. CP 17-18, 25; RP (11/18/14) 5-6. So too were the elements of the charged offense. CP 17; RP (11/18/14) 5. Defendant's appreciation for how they were met by his theft of the bank's money through force or fear was manifest in his stipulation to the probable-cause declaration, which he expanded upon in his handwritten affirmation of guilt. CP 25; RP (11/18/14) 13. Both of which were informed by the State's summary of the case in his presence. RP (11/18/14) 8-11. The plea was plainly voluntary.

d. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying defendant's motion to withdraw the plea.

"Because of the many safeguards preced[ing] a ... plea, the manifest injustice standard for ... withdrawal is demanding." *Pugh*, 153 Wn. App. at

577 (citing *State v. Taylor*, 83 Wn.2d 594, 596, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)). Defendants must prove manifest injustice occurred. *State v. Oseguera Acevedo*, 137 Wn.2d 179, 194, 970 P.2d 299, 306 (1999). This requires them to identify a constitutional error and show how it actually prejudiced their rights. *Id.* Denial of a motion for withdrawal will only be reversed for an abuse of discretion; conversely, it will be affirmed if based on tenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Marshall*, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280, 27 P.3d 192 (2001); *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

"never advised him ... the [S]tate could not prove its case." As a preliminary matter, there is no support for his unrealistic assessment of the evidence. The available record portends a trial would have almost certainly concluded in conviction. This is partly because conviction would follow each of three possible interpretations of the available evidence, *i.e.*: (1) defendant was the principal inside the bank; (2) defendant was the accomplice in the getaway car; or (3) defendant was either the principal or the accomplice. No election would have been needed as the elements are identical for principals and accomplices alike. *State v. Teal*, 117 Wn. App. 831, 838, 73 P.3d 402, 407 (2003) aff'd, 152 Wn.2d 333, 96 P.3d 974 (2004).

Defendant's allegation of ineffective assistance likewise embellishes the record of counsel's purported failure. The thrust of defendant's criticism is he would not have admitted the truth about his crime if he had reviewed several items of discovery prior to the plea—so much for remorse, but so it

goes. See RP (3/27/15) 25-26. At the evidentiary hearing, he said the bank-security video and photographs of the getaway car called proof of his identity as the robber into doubt. RP (3/27/15) 25-26. But he neglected to explain how they accomplished so much let alone proved as much, making it impossible to review his claim in this direct appeal. There is consequently no manifest injustice. It is no wonder the trial court could not find a basis to permit the requested withdrawal. RP (3/27/15) 33. That decision should be affirmed since it cannot be fairly reversed as an abuse of discretion.

2. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PROVE HIS PLEA IS THE RESULT OF INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL AS EVEN THE INCOMPLETE RECORD ON REVIEW REVEALS HE RECEIVED SOUND STRATEGIC ADVICE THAT HELPED HIM AVOID A DECADE OF IMPRISONMENT FOR TWO WELL-ESTABLISHED ROBBERIES.

To prevail on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, defendant must prove counsel failed to substantially assist him in deciding whether to plead guilty and the failure prejudicially induced the plea. *In re Pers. Restraint of Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664, 706, 327 P.3d 660 (2014); *State v. Osborne*, 102 Wn.2d 87, 99, 684 P.2d 684 P.2d 683 (1984); *In re Peters*, 50 Wn. App. 702, 703, 750 P.2d 643 (1988)); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); U.S. Const. Amend. 6; Wash. Const. Art. I § 22. Courts make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight when evaluating counsel's performance. *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 336, 371, 245 P.3d 776 (2011).

a. Defendant improperly seeks direct review of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim that depends on evidence outside the available record.

Where, as here, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251, 1257 (1995). The burden is on a defendant to show deficient representation in the existing record. Claims dependent on extraneous evidence must be raised through a collateral attack. *Id*.

Proper review of defendant's ineffective assistance claim cannot be completed due to the inability to assess three critical components of the case: (1) all the evidence establishing defendant as one of the bank robbers; (2) a comprehensive accounting of counsel's conduct leading to the plea; and (3) any evidence of defendant's confidentially expressed reason for pleading guilty. Whereas this Court only has a two-page summary of the case drafted to establish probable cause to impose conditions of release, the prosecutor's extemporized overview of it and defendant's vague assertion some currently unreviewable evidence called proof of his guilt into doubt in some unexplained way.

There is cause to believe a thorough accounting of counsel's conduct would contradict his claim of deficient performance, for she disclosed as much in his motion to withdraw the plea, which represented:

[She] has ... information pertaining to [the] motion ... that is in actual conflict with arguments supporting [it].

Id. One can safely assume at least some of the conflicting information was touched upon in her motion to withdraw, which further represented:

[She] retained an investigator who reviewed the discovery. Both [she] and the investigator met several times with [defendant] to discuss the case. Two of the three bank employees involved in the robbery were interviewed by defense counsel and the investigator. Both reviewed the physical evidence stored. All of this information was shared with [defendant].

Id. Although unfortunate, defendant's willingness to besmirch counsel's reputation to pursue a perceived benefit despite the effort it appears she expended on his behalf is not uncommon. Appellate courts have long "note[d], with increasing concern, ... it seems to be standard ... for the accused ... to develop an undertone of studied antagonism ... to argue on appeal ... [he or she] ... was represented by incompetent counsel." In re Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 734, 16 P.3d 1(2001). The aspersions in this case appear to be born of defendant's frustration with the more favorable deal his twin received on account of his less violent albeit equally criminal act of driving the getaway car. RP (3/27/15) 28-29; CP 35.

b. <u>Defendant's assertion counsel neglected to show him evidence she discussed with him prior to the plea is not proof of deficient performance.</u>

Counsel competently handles pretrial resolutions by relaying offers, discussing negotiations and explaining the case to a defendant, so he or she can make an informed decision on how to proceed. *State v. Edwards*, 171 Wn. App. 379, 394, 294 P.3d 708, 715 (2012); *State v. Malik*, 37 Wn. App. 414, 416, 680 P.2d 770 (1984); *In re McCready*, 100 Wn. App. 259, 263, 996 P.2d 658 (2000). To overcome the presumption these affairs were adequately addressed, a defendant must prove the absence of any legitimate explanation for counsel's conduct. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). The presumption will accordingly survive a defendant's self-serving allegations of counsel's deficiency. *See In re Connick*, 144 Wn.2d 442, 451, 28 P.3d 729 (2001); *Osborne*, 102 Wn.2d at 97.

Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance is predicated on his self-serving allegation counsel failed to *show* him several items of evidence before he entered the plea. RP (3/27/15) 25-26. This claim fails as a matter of law, for neither the Due Process Clause governing the validity of the plea nor the Sixth Amendment controlling counsel's administration of the pretrial investigation compelled counsel to *show* him every piece of evidence she reviewed to inform their discussions about the case. *See Lafler*

v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1390 (2012)); State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 108-11, 225 P.3d 956, 966 (2010); e.g. State v. Wright, 457 So. 3d 465, 477 (2011)(lawful to preclude defendant's access to child pornography counsel reviewed in illicit-depictions case); Ford v. Schofield, 488 F. Supp. 2d 1258, 1366 (N.D. Ga. 2007)(defendant's presence not required during fact-gathering endeavors). Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 383, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 525, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2007). She was required to reasonably examine the evidence. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691; A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 109. The examination was adequate if it enabled her to prepare him to make an informed decision about whether plead guilty or proceed to trial. See Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57-58; 106 S. Ct. 366, 370-71 (1985); A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 109, 111-12.

There is no evidence she failed in this regard. Defendant alleged but never proved post-plea review of crime-scene video and photographs exposed a yet to be explained weakness in the case. Even if true, the fact additional scrutiny might have resulted in a useful discovery does not prove constitutional deficiency as defendant was never entitled to perfect counsel. See State v. Adams, 91 Wn.2d 86, 91, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978). There is not enough information in the record about defendant's purported discovery to assess its materiality or discernibility to the end of determining whether it could have been reasonably overlooked. Conversely, if the evidence actually proved as incriminating as portrayed, there would have been little more for counsel to do than report the bad news. Brown, 159 Wn. App. at

371; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 334. Defendant failed to prove he received constitutionally deficient assistance of counsel.

c. Defendant's claim he would have proceeded to trial had he seen several items of discovery apparently explained to him does not prove actual prejudice.

The prejudice component of *Strickland* turns on whether the alleged deficiency affected the outcome of the plea process. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 58-59. Such prejudice cannot be established unless there is a reasonable probability a proven deficiency would have prompted defendant to insist on proceeding to trial. *Id.* The analysis largely depends on him being able to demonstrate reasonable counsel would have advised against the plea based on his yet to be explained discovery. This would, in turn, depend on whether the discovery would have changed the outcome of a trial. These predictions must be made objectively, without regard for defendant's idiosyncrasies. *Id.* at 59-60. The bare assertion he would not have pleaded guilty but for the alleged deficiency is insufficient to prove actual prejudice. *In re Riley*, 122 Wn.2d 772, 782, 863 P.2d 554 (1993). For this Court should not find it based on counsel's alleged failure to make a useful discovery where, as here, the incomplete record compels the Court to speculate about its utility. See Id.; State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 265, 576 P.2d 1302 (1978). Defendant's unsubstantiated ineffective assistance of counsel claim should fail.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

The trial court's denial of defendant's motion to withdraw the valid plea he entered to avoid a twenty year sentence for robbing two bank tellers at gunpoint should be affirmed as he failed to prove it was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel.

DATED: February 16, 2016.

MARK LINDQUIST

Pierce County

Prosecuting Attorney

JASON RUYF

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